
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Torbay's Housing Crisis Review Panel 

 
Members 

Councillors Barrand (Chairman), Barnby, Brown, Mandy Darling, Douglas-Dunbar, Johns, 
Kennedy and O'Dwyer.  Plus External Advisors Alistair Allender, Stuart Bakewell and Tom 

Godwin 

 
(Contact Governance Support on t: 01803 207087 or e: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk) 

 

 

 

 

A meeting of Torbay's Housing Crisis Review Panel will be held on Tuesday, 
25 October 2022 commencing at 2.00 pm 

 
The meeting will be held remotely via Zoom (the links to the meeting are set out below)  
 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89629155356?pwd=eXE4ZDJUL25NVUc2ZVRtQVNVZUZudz09  
 
Meeting ID: 896 2915 5356 
Passcode: 328308 
One tap mobile 
+442034815237,,89629155356#,,,,*328308# United Kingdom 

 

 

 

Agenda 
 

 
1.   Apologies  
 To receive apologies for absence, including notifications of any 

changes to the membership of the Panel. 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 a) To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect of 

items on this agenda 
 

For reference:  Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the 
matter in question.  A completed disclosure of interests form should 
be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 

 
b) To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in 

respect of items on this agenda 

mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89629155356?pwd=eXE4ZDJUL25NVUc2ZVRtQVNVZUZudz09


 

 

 
For reference:  Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the 
item.  However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public have 
a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then 
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not improperly 
seek to influence the outcome of the matter.  A completed disclosure 
of interests form should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion 
of the meeting. 
 
(Please Note:  If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on any 
potential interests they may have, they should contact Governance 
Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.) 

 
3.   Cabinets Response to Torbay's Housing Crisis Review Panel 

Recommendations Monitoring 
(Pages 5 - 12) 

 To monitor the progress made in implementing the Cabinet’s response 
to the recommendations arising from the Torbay’s Housing Crisis 
Review. 
 

4.   Revised Draft Housing Strategy (Pages 13 - 27) 
 To consider the consultation draft Housing Strategy and make 

recommendations to the Cabinet (via the Overview and Scrutiny Board 
on 9 November 2022). 
 

 Instructions for the press and public for joining the meeting  
 If you are using an iPad you will need to install Zoom which can be 

found in the App Store.  You do not need to register for an account just 
install the software.  You only need to install the software once.  For 
other devices you should just be taken direct to the meeting. 
 
Joining a meeting 
 
Click on the link provided on the agenda above and follow the 
instructions on screen.  If you are using a telephone, dial the Zoom 
number provided above and follow the instructions.  (Note: if you are 
using a landline the call will cost up to 13p per minute and from a 
mobile between 3p and 55p if the number is not covered by your 
inclusive minutes.) 
 
You will be placed in a waiting room, when the meeting starts the 
meeting Host will admit you.  Please note if there are technical issues 
this might not be at the start time given on the agenda. 
 
Upon entry you will be muted and your video switched off so that only 
the meeting participants can been seen. When you join the meeting the 
Host will unmute your microphone, ask you to confirm your name and 
update your name as either public or press.  Select gallery view if you 
want see all the participants. 
 
If you have joined the meeting via telephone, your telephone number 
will appear on screen and will be displayed for all to see until the Host 
has confirmed your name and then they will rename your telephone 

 



 

 

number to either public or press. 

 
Speaking at a Meeting 
 
If you are registered to speak at the meeting and when it is your turn to 
address the Meeting, the Chairman will invite you to speak giving the 
Host the instruction to unmute your microphone and switch your video 
on (where appropriate) therefore please pause for a couple of seconds 
to ensure your microphone is on. 
 
Upon the conclusion of your speech/time limit, the Host will mute your 
microphone and turn off your video. 
 
Meeting Etiquette for Registered Speakers – things to consider 
when speaking at public meetings on video:  
 

 Background – the meeting is public and people will be able to 
see what is behind you therefore consider what you will have on 
display behind you.  

 Camera angle – sit front on, upright with the device in front of 
you.  

 Who else is in the room – make sure you are in a position where 
nobody will enter the camera shot who doesn’t want to appear in 
the public meeting.  

 Background noise – try where possible to minimise background 
noise.  

 Aim to join the meeting 15 minutes before it is due to start.  
 

 



Torbay’s Housing Crisis Review – Implementation Monitoring Report 

Report to Torbay’s Housing Crisis Review Panel – 25 October 2022 

No. Recommendation: Cabinet Response: Update: 

1. To request officers to lobby the 
Government and Valuation Office in-
year providing the evidence base to 
demonstrate the huge increase in cost 
of rent in order to request that the 
Local Housing Allowance is increased 
in-year and going forward 
(consideration to be given if other 
areas having a similar position to us 
and joining up with them). 

Initial contact has been made with the 

valuation office and an assessment 

done of local LHA rates compared to 

neighbours and the average rent by 

accommodation type. Cornwall’s 

approach is also being explored in 

that a wider strategic assessment of 

the market and increased property 

prices has been undertaken. Further 

strategic work will be conducted to 

assess and link in with relevant 

statistical partners either to 

benchmark and or in a joint approach 

central government.  

 

Lead Officer: Tara Harris 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 4

A
genda Item

 3



No. Recommendation: Cabinet Response: Update: 

2. To consider paying private landlords 
more than the standard one month 
deposit (normally the equivalent to 
one month’s rent) to encourage them 
to rent properties to care experienced 
young people to give them more 
confidence they will not be left out of 
pocket once the young person has 
moved on. 

For those who are care experienced a 

leaving care grant is awarded. 

Discretionary Housing Payments are 

also used.  

The current assistance will be 

reviewed appreciating that a case by 

case basis maybe required due to 

circumstances and property 

availability.   

 

Lead Officer: Becky Thompson/Tara 

Harris 

In respect of all care experienced 

young people, the Local Offer 

provides for one month’s rent and one 

month’s deposit to be provided in 

respect of any private 

accommodation. However, on a case 

by case basis, a presentation to the 

Access to Resources Panel can be 

made to extend this to six months’ 

rent and one month’s deposit, to 

provide this assurance to private 

landlords. This process has been 

operational for many months, with a 

number of care experienced young 

people successfully moving on to 

privately rented accommodation as a 

result.  

3. To request that officers progress the 
Rightsizing Project as a priority to 
explore appropriate incentives and 
support to make it easier and 
encourage people living in 
accommodation that is too large for 
their need to downsize to free up the 
accommodation for larger families, 
working across all Registered Housing 
Providers and Devon Home Choice to 
maximise the use of suitable housing 
stock within Torbay. 

This project has been instigated with 
engagement from all the significant 
RP’s in Torbay accounting for the 
majority of the housing stock. A 
partnership action plan is currently 
being developed looking at the 
reasons why, incentives required and 
scale/impact of the project.  
 
It is essential that this project also 
links in with strategic housing 
development opportunities, to enable 

 

P
age 5



No. Recommendation: Cabinet Response: Update: 

appropriate move on homes to be 
accesses, that are suitable in the right 
locations for families to stay 
connected and supported. 
 

Lead Officer: Tara Harris 

4. To request that provision of new 
accommodation for care experienced 
young people should be a priority for 
TorVista Homes and other registered 
housing providers. 

TorVista Homes are keen to work with 

Children’s services to better 

understand their accommodation 

needs and work together to develop a 

suite of solutions to help increase the 

supply and deliver positive outcomes.  

This was also supported by other 

Registered Providers as outlined in 

feedback from the Strategic Housing 

Board.  We will ensure that we are 

following up with specialist providers. 

 

Lead Officer: Liam Montgomery 

Off the shelf purchases has been 

added to the TorVista business plan 

for this client group to ensure the 

needs can be met.  

Other solutions are also being 

considered including leasing 

properties and also direct delivery.  

Children’s are in the process of 

providing detail on their requirements 

so that delivery can be modelled more 

accurately.   

5. To explore options to enable more 
care experienced young people to 
remain longer term with their foster 
carers. 

We currently as of December 2021 
have 30% of our eighteen-year-old 
care experienced young people in a 
Staying Put arrangement which 
reflects a significant year on year 
increase: 2019/20 YTD 6%, 2020/21 
15% and YTD figure is 30%. We will 
be reviewing the Staying Put Policy 
and Offer by April 2022. 
 

Staying Put is a statutory 
responsibility that is offered to all 
cared for children in foster care at the 
age of 18. However, although this is 
positive and gives support it is not a 
permanent resolution nor does it offer 
long term security, these young 
people still require move on 
accommodation at 21 with the local 
authority having corporate parenting 

P
age 6



No. Recommendation: Cabinet Response: Update: 

Of our 64 cared for young people, 29 
are identified as strong likelihood of 
converting into Staying Put 
arrangements with their former foster 
carers post-eighteen (45%). 
 
We are planning to review our Staying 
Put Offer, and in order to do this 
meaningfully, this needs to be done 
with our fostering families. Therefore, 
we are planning to seek feedback 
from our fostering families by email 
and focus group before meeting to 
review the Offer and consider any 
amendments of changes necessary.  
 

Lead Officer: Nancy Meehan 

responsibility for them up to the age of 
25. Therefore, this is not a permanent 
solution for care experienced young 
people and there is still a requirement 
for the provision of alternative housing 
accommodation.  

6. To explore options for Banding in 
Devon Home Choice to see if care 
experienced young people can be 
given a higher priority and what 
processes are in place. 

The Personal Advisor in Children 

Services currently refers the care 

experienced young person to Move-

On Panel if they are in housing need a 

Band B is awarded, if need is 

assessed. This is standard policy 

across Devon Home Choice 

partnership. The extracts from the 

policy are: 

 Ready for Move on from 

Supported Accommodation 

within Devon (including care 

 

P
age 7



No. Recommendation: Cabinet Response: Update: 

leavers) (Band B) 

 The Devon Home Choice 

Policy states that applicants 

living in supported 

accommodation in Devon who 

are assessed as being ready to 

move on will be placed in the 

High housing need band (Band 

B).  

As such B Bands are awarded. 

A process and policy review will be 

undertaken including opportunities to 

streamline the process and hence 

reduce delays.  

 

Lead Officer: Tara Harris  

7. That a dedicated resource should be 
appointed to carry out appropriate 
enforcement on poor standards of 
accommodation. That resource and to 
bring empty properties back into use 
and an additional resource should be 
appointed to chase developers to 
progress sites which are not coming 
forward but have received planning 
permission; this is all linked to the 
establishment of the housing enabling 
role in-house.  (Note: this 
recommendation has been 

In response to the budget 

consultation, posts have been 

identified and have been included as 

part of the budget proposals.  

 

Lead Officer:  

Tara Harris (Housing Standards and 

Empty Homes) 

David Edmondson (Housing 

Enablement) 

 

 

P
age 8



No. Recommendation: Cabinet Response: Update: 

included as one of the 
recommendations from the 
Priorities & Resources Panel 
review of the Revenue and Capital 
Budget 2022/2023.) 

8. To explore how the Council will 
resource the investigative work 
required from April 2022 to confirm 
the availability and actual short-term 
letting of residential properties 
(holiday lets/Airbnb) linked to the 
changes in Council Tax and Business 
Rates coming into force from April 
2023 which requires proof over the 
previous 12 months to ensure that the 
appropriate taxes are collected from 
the owners of these properties. 

A full review of resource is currently 
being concluded to enable this work to 
be undertaken, whist also progressing 
other government initiatives that have 
been implemented and recently 
announced. The same resource is 
therefore currently being drawn upon 
to deliver the additional work related 
to Business Grant Scheme, Covid 
Additional Relief Fund (CARF) and 
the significant impact of Council Tax 
rebate related to fuel. It is also 
anticipated that additional schemes 
will also be announced. 
 

Lead Officer: Tara Harris 

 

9. To request that officers provide more 
regular communication to raise 
awareness of what the Council is 
doing to address the housing crisis 
and to highlight the options and 
support available to local residents 
and improve engagement and support 
to community housing groups. 

A landlord campaign was launched at 

the beginning of March to access 

more affordable private rented 

accommodation and improve 

engagement. A detailed 

communications action plan will be 

developed and implemented raising 

awareness and actions being 

 

P
age 9



No. Recommendation: Cabinet Response: Update: 

undertaken by the Council whilst 

working with partners to address 

homelessness.  

 

Lead Officer:  

Tara Harris (Homelessness agenda) 

David Edmondson/Local Housing 

Community Groups (Housing 

development and supply) 

10. To request that officers look at good 
practice from other local authorities 
when refreshing the Affordable 
Housing Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) to see how we can 
encourage the development of more 
larger family homes, single units, units 
for care experienced young people or 
units to assist adults with a disability 
to live independently. 

This matter will be picked up by the 

existing Housing Delivery Group as 

part of their role to oversee, review 

and implement the Torbay Housing 

Strategy Delivery Plan.  Internal 

consultation to start on revised SPD in 

mid-March. 

 

Lead Officer: David Edmondson 

 

11. To request that officers be 
encouraged to be more creative to 
make best use of sites to ensure that 
they are maximised, including 
considering greater density and higher 
developments and to review relevant 
Policies, where necessary, to enable 
this to be acceptable within our 
Policies; and to undertake a 
structured review of policies which 
have an impact on housing delivery to 

This matter will be picked up by the 

existing Housing Delivery Group as 

part of their role to oversee, review 

and implement the Torbay Housing 

Strategy Delivery Plan.  However, it 

will also be addressed through the 

review of other Policy documents 

including the Torbay Building Heights 

Strategy and in consultation with 

relevant key stakeholders and 

 

P
age 10



No. Recommendation: Cabinet Response: Update: 

ensure that there are (a) no 
irrelevant/old policies, (b) no elements 
of policy which conflict with each other 
e.g. not several top priorities, (c) no 
policies which are too detailed and 
indirectly make development 
stagnate, and (d) whether policies 
encourage development. 

Neighbourhood Forums. Higher 

density development will need to be 

located in the right places and respect 

the character of the existing area. 

 

Lead Officer: David Edmondson 

12. To request officers to be more robust 
in challenging developers to ensure 
that they are maximising the 
development potential of the site and 
providing sufficient affordable housing 
either within the development or via 
Section 106 contributions and to use 
experienced professionals to 
challenge developers assumptions 
and to follow up on outcomes with 
clawback mechanisms. 

This matter will be picked up by the 

existing Housing Delivery Group as 

part of their role to oversee, review 

and implement the Torbay Housing 

Strategy Delivery Plan. 

 

Lead Officer: David Edmondson 

 

13. To identify a named person to take 
forward the actions arising from the 
recommendations of the Board. 

As identified above. Complete 

 

P
age 11



  

 

Adding an image 

 Open this template in the desktop version of Word,  

 Double click the top of the page to access the 'header and 

footer section 

 Select a suitable photograph - contact the design team for 

access to the photo library. No clip art please! 

 Choose 'insert' > 'pictures'>'this device' and navigate to the 

location of the saved image 

 Once the image is inserted, resize to fill this space by 

dragging a corner, while holding the 'shift' key to prevent it 

distorting 

 With the image selected, right click and select 'send to 

back' > 'send behind text' to move the image behind the 

coloured block above. 

 Close the header and footer and continue editing your 

document. Don't forget to delete this text box! 

 

 
 

DRAFT Housing Strategy 
2022-2030 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



 

2 

Contents 

Foreword......................................................................................................................................... 2 

Introduction ........................................................................................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 

External influences and local issues ........................................................................................... 4 

Housing needs ............................................................................................................................. 4 

Our housing ambition ................................................................................................................... 4 

The economic challenge............................................................................................................... 4 

Strengths, challenges, and opportunities.................................................................................... 5 

Strengths ...................................................................................................................................... 5 

Challenges ................................................................................................................................... 6 

Opportunities ................................................................................................................................ 7 

Vision .............................................................................................................................................. 7 

Our Priorities .................................................................................................................................. 8 

Improve housing supply................................................................................................................ 8 

Improve housing quality.............................................................................................................. 10 

Improve housing support ............................................................................................................ 11 

Measuring success ...................................................................................................................... 13 

 

  

Page 13



 

3 

Introduction 

A home is special to everyone and directly contributes to good health, wellbeing, and life 

achievement. Having a place to call home is one of life’s main goals. It offers warmth and shelter; 

and is the place where we feel safe, and secure; a place to shape family. 

Known as the English Riviera, Torbay comprises of three towns: Torquay, Paignton, and Brixham. 

Torbay has a population of c. 135,000 and has an increasingly skilled workforce; increasing 

numbers of small and micro businesses; and a large catchment population. The recent investment 

in the A380 South Devon link road, directly connecting Torbay with the M5 at Exeter, has 

significantly reduced travel times locally and regionally making the Torbay area an increasingly 

attractive place to live and work. 

It is a place of huge ambition, and we want it to be the best place for children to grow, for people to 

live and work and for residents to fulfil their ambitions today and for many years to come.  

However, Torbay is facing a housing crisis. There is a shortage of new housing supply and 

particularly affordable housing.  

This strategy sets the vision and approach we will take through our leadership; and by working 

with partners to ‘improve the delivery, affordability and quality of housing’. 

We have the foundations in place to build more affordable homes through our urban and town 

regeneration plans; our housing company TorVista and the Torbay Strategic Housing Board. 

By working with our partners, we will achieve more, giving more families a home and more 

children the best possible start in life. 

We will prioritise brownfield locations in our towns to reduce the impact on the climate and 

endeavour to protect our natural environment. We will create jobs and investment to support 

inclusive economic growth and make safe homes for residents and their families. 

Whilst the council and its partners face many significant challenges, we are determined to provide 

appropriate and affordable homes, particularly for those with the greatest need. 

Separate to this Housing Strategy an Action Plan will be developed to deliver our vision for 

housing in Torbay. The Action Plan will be an agile document, which we will used to monitor 

progress and it will be overseen by a cross-directorate Housing Delivery Group. 

  

Page 14



 

4 

External influences and local issues 

Housing needs 

Housing needs for Torbay have been objectively assessed in accordance with National Planning 

Policy Framework guidance, which, taking into account local policy added targets for employment 

growth, estimate that 615 new homes are required to be provided per year over the Local Plan 

period. However, as part of the Examination of the Torbay Local Plan, this figure was reduced to 

495 homes per year to reflect environmental constraints in Torbay.  

Consequently, the adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 identifies land for the delivery of around 

8,900 new homes over the plan period and we are reviewing our current Local Plan. 

Our housing ambition 

A balanced housing market is essential to sustainable communities, but this will not be achieved 

without the right level of new housing development, across all tenures. As well as providing 

desperately needed new homes, house building also delivers substantial benefits and better 

facilities for the wider community. The affordability and environmental sustainability of homes will 

be crucial factors in getting the balance right between homes, jobs, the green environment and 

protecting the climate.  

We already know from our community led neighbourhood plans, that protecting the natural 

environment of Torbay is a priority; along with providing more affordable homes; reducing the 

impact of climate change and creating a sustainable economy. It will be necessary to strike a 

balance between competing priorities. 

There is little appetite for green field development despite the level of additional homes required. 

So, we need to be bold, innovative, creative, and sensitive in the delivery of those additional 

homes. 

The economic challenge 

The current economic backdrop provides challenges for us all, including housebuilders and 

registered providers.  

The English Riviera Destination management plan 2022-2030 to make Torbay the UK’s premier 

visitor destination and help boost the local economy was approved at Council in August 2022. The 

new plan sets out the interventions that can help propel the English Riviera forward, building on 

the strengths of the destination and the opportunities to achieve a more sustainable and resilient 

destination.  

There has been a huge increase in demand for available properties, both rented and for home 

ownership. This has pushed up local prices and rents, making it much more difficult for 

households to afford. Rents are now well above the Housing Benefit rates, and we are seeing an 

increasing number of households at risk of homelessness. 

 
Page 15



 

5 

Families on Housing Benefit struggling due to the mismatch with private rents and the Council 

continues to lobby government on Local Housing Allowance rates to reflect the challenging rental 

market specific to Torbay. 

Additionally, since the energy price cap was lifted at the beginning of 2022, we have seen heating 

and electricity costs rise by over 50%, which has come alongside increases in the cost of food, 

taxes and other everyday expenses.1 

Strengths, challenges, and opportunities 

Strengths 

The council has put the foundations in place to kick start delivery of affordable homes in Torbay, 

as set out in our Community and Corporate Plan objective to ‘Improve the delivery, 

affordability and quality of housing’ 

We will ensure we put our residents and clients first; we continue to tackle climate change and we 

work in partnership to achieve better outcomes. We will focus on preventing and alleviating 

homelessness and we will continue to do everything we can to make sure our residents are 

treated fairly. 

We are taking action to improve supply: 

 Through the Torbay master plan for town centre and waterfront regeneration to support 

sustainable, residential communities  

 The refreshed English Riviera Destination Management Plan 2022-2030 to make Torbay 

the UK’s premier visitor destination and help boost the local economy 

 Progressing sites and regeneration identified in the Local Plan growth areas  

 Delivering 100+ new homes (maximising affordable homes) on the Preston Down Road site 

 Seeking a Strategic Partner to deliver more affordable homes on small challenging sites 

 Purchasing up to 37 homes to meet current demand for family Temporary Accommodation 

(TA), with the option to use these homes for longer term affordable rentals as we tackle and 

reduce the need for TA  

 Delivering new homes through modern construction; such as Modular build pilots currently 

under consideration for two sites. 

 Commissioning two Extra Care homes of 150 units to meet future older people supported 

housing need 

 Investing in property to increase the supply of social rent homes in Torbay. 

 By adopting an Empty Homes Policy and recruiting an Empty Homes Officer to help bring 

empty homes back into use 

                                            

1 Cost of living rises for households: ONS.gov.uk 

 Page 16

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/articles/energypricesandtheireffectonhouseholds/2022-02-01#:~:text=Average%20(median)%20fuel%20costs%20for,3%2C071)%20with%20an%20G%20rating.


 

6 

 By pledging financial support to introduce Interim Management Orders within the private 

rented sector to raise standards for tenants 

 Continuing to make the best use of existing social housing through Devon Home Choice 

plus our Rightsizing and empty homes project 

 TorVista due to deliver new homes  

Challenges 

 42% of CO2 emissions in Torbay are from domestic homes (2019) 

 Private rental properties are well above the local Housing Benefit rates (LHA) 

 68% of households renting privately rely on Housing Benefit, higher than national (48%) 

and regional (44%) averages 

 8% social rented stock in Torbay; 18% national average 

 Current delivery of homes built is an average of 343 per year, the Local Plan target is 720 

 By 2040 one in three (34%) of Torbay’s population will be over 65 

We know that, for our residents: 

 Housing is unaffordable to many in Torbay. The average house price in Torbay is nine 

times average annual earnings and house prices have increased significantly post 2020 

 Increasing demand for holiday accommodation has reduced the availability of 

accommodation for local people  

 Homelessness in Torbay is over twice the national and regional averages 

 One third (34%) of households are being made homeless due to the end of a private rented 

tenancy 

 Homes becoming available through the Housing Register have fallen 6% since 2019 

In Torbay: 

 Housing need outstrips demand for new affordable homes 

 There is not enough brownfield land across the Bay to provide all the homes Torbay needs, 

and the cost of any site clearance means there is less money to build affordable homes 

 The complicated geographic relief of Torbay makes site development challenging 

 Our small developments can reduce affordable housing delivery, as units fall below 

planning obligation thresholds 

 Regeneration takes time due to site assembly and financing complexities 

 A low growth local Plan to protect the environment can reduce the opportunities to build 

new homes 

 The challenging economic climate is making house building difficult. Financial uncertainty, 

cost of materials, and labour shortages are delaying housebuilding  

Page 17



 

7 

Opportunities 

Whilst accepting that there are significant challenges in providing decent homes for all our 

residents it is important to recognise that there are opportunities that can help us achieve this, 

including: 

 The Government’s new Affordable Homes Programme (2021 to 2026) managed by Homes 

England. By working with Homes England, we hope to deliver more affordable homes 

through new build, residential led regeneration and purchase and repair of existing stock 

 The Torbay Affordable Housing Development Partnership, which was established in 2022 

to work more closely with Homes England, registered providers, and other stakeholders to 

increase the overall provision of affordable housing 

 TorVista Homes Limited, which was awarded registered provider status in 2021. As a new 

registered housing provider, wholly owned by the council; its aim is to deliver a wide range 

of good quality, affordable and supported housing 

 The Council announced a ‘climate crisis’ in 2021, making a commitment that Torbay will be 

carbon neutral by 2030 

 Our Local Plan is under review and sets out how the need for homes of all types will be 

delivered together with jobs and infrastructure 

 We have created the Torbay Strategic Housing Board to promote our ambitions and actively 

engage with partners to help increase housing supply and be a critical friend 

 We are maximising the use of existing social housing stock through our Rightsize 

programme and working with owners of empty properties to bring them back into use 

 

Vision 

The housing vision for Torbay is to: 

Improve the delivery, affordability and quality of housing 

 

To achieve this vision, we will: 

 Work across the Council and with partners to come up with innovative ideas and modern 

build techniques to increase the delivery of affordable housing for rent and ownership 

 Deliver a diverse choice of housing for our residents that meets every stage of life and 

lifestyle 

 Support our communities to improve and maintain their homes; to be safe, warm, fit for 

purpose and be more environmentally friendly 

 Continue to protect homeless households and those threatened with homelessness, whilst 

putting an end to street sleeping 

  

Page 18



 

8 

Our Priorities 

Our housing priorities are: 

 Improve housing supply 

 Improve housing quality 

 Improve housing support 

 

Our cross-cutting principles: 

 Put our customers first 

 Tackle climate change 

 Work in partnership 

 

These aspirations are underpinned by our community and corporate visions: 

 Thriving people 

 Thriving economy 

 Tackle climate change 

 Council fit for the future 

 

Within each priority we have identified key areas of work that we believe will directly contribute to 

the overall sense of community health and wellbeing in Torbay. 

Improve housing supply 

We will: 

1. Build affordable homes for rent 

2. Build homes for low-cost ownership 

3. Build and acquire innovative and specialist homes 

4. Make better use of our housing stock 

 

This is important because: 

 Need on the Housing Register has increased by 50%, since 2018, with 1,572 applicants 

now in housing need 

 The Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (2022) identifies a local need for 721 

affordable homes per year: 387 for rent and 334 for low-cost sale 

 The Government requirement on Torbay is to build 720 dwellings a year 

Page 19



 

9 

 Torbay is the corporate parent to nearly 5 times as many children and young people as the 

England average (302, compared with 62), with a 42% increase since 2011 

 There is a distinct lack or larger family homes, both in the private rented and social sectors 

 

We want local households to have access to quality housing that they can afford in a range of 

tenures. Open market housing is the main route to securing the delivery of affordable housing via 

S106 planning obligations. However, affordable housing can also be provided using Government 

grants and the Council’s assets, including land. The majority of this delivery is focused in urban 

areas, yet we recognise the need for smaller development in our less urban communities. 

Homes built for rent by registered providers are the only type of homes that remain affordable for 

the majority of low-income households in Torbay. Traditionally, homes let on social rents are 

around 60% of the local market rent, but in 2010 the government introduced a new ‘affordable 

rent’ at rents on new homes of up to 80% of market rent levels. 

Since 2016, we have delivered an average of 343 market homes each year, 47 (14%) of which 

have been affordable. At the current trajectory, with no additional greenfield allocation, Torbay is 

likely to only develop up to 50 affordable units a year through the Section 106 developer 

contributions. To meet the total need on the Housing Register with new builds alone would take 30 

years. 

Our strategy proposes a mix of Homes England grant and local housing investment, such as 

Council land and assets, with a view to establishing two third affordable homes for rent and one 

third for low cost ownership. We will also strive to maximise energy efficiency, making our homes 

more affordable to heat and run. 

Torbay Council and our NHS partners want to increase independent living; allowing people 

receiving social care and support to have a greater choice and control over how, where and with 

whom they live. Whilst we are commissioning 150 extra care units for people to live well for longer 

in a home of their own, there is more to do.  

There is also an urgent need to create housing stock that provides independent living and move-

on accommodation options for our care experienced young people. 

To improve housing supply, we will: 

 Use Council land and the redevelopment of existing buildings to create new affordable 

homes and sustainable communities 

 Look to establish a strategic housing partnership to progress our affordable home delivery 

programme 

 Maximise opportunities to deliver affordable homes through Homes England’s new 

Affordable Homes Programme (2021 to 2026) 

 Work with TorVista, the Council’s wholly owned Housing Delivery Company to deliver 

specialised housing for older people, for those with learning disabilities and autism and for 

people with enduring mental ill health 

 Deliver more homes to improve the outcomes for our care experienced leavers Page 20



 

10 

 Purchase around 37 self-contained properties in the Bay to help accommodate homeless 

households to help them move-on into more permanent homes 

 Work with ‘build for rent’ developers to investigate funds, suitable land, or property to 

accommodate a shared housing project 

 Bring empty homes back into use, making them affordable to rent where appropriate 

 Deliver Torbay Council’s ‘Right-Sizing Project’, to free up much needed larger family homes 

and developing larger homes if necessary 

We will work with our partners to increase supply: 

 We will pro-actively build strong partnerships with Homes England, landowners, registered 

providers, and local communities to improve the delivery of new homes 

 Through our Economic partnership work with Home England, neighbouring authorities, 

NHS, local colleges, local landowners, developers and employers to find solutions to new, 

existing, and stalled development sites 

 Through the Torbay Strategic Housing Board, working in partnership to build stronger 

relationships to increase the supply of new homes, including affordable and supported 

housing 

 Utilise TorVista to deliver additional homes  

 Chase developers to progress sites that have received planning permission, but are not 

coming forward in a timely fashion 

 Look to explore alternative solutions such as self-build and modular build for challenging 

sites to deliver new homes 

To understand future needs/demand, we will: 

 Gather evidence to better understand where our unmet housing need is coming from 

 Better understand local housing need by regularly reviewing applications on the Housing 

Register and predicted demand from children’s and adults services, local colleges and 

employers 

 Undertake a structured review of planning policies to make sure that they are relevant, 

joined-up, straightforward and encourage development, particularly on brownfield sites 

Improve housing quality 

We will: 

1. Tackle conditions in the private rented sector 

2. Improve energy efficiency and reduce fuel poverty 

3. Keep people independent at home 

This is important because: 

 On average, Torbay Council serves 49 legal notices to remedy disrepair each year 

 Nearly 20% of our enforcement work was to remedy poor heating in people’s homes 

 There is a higher proportion of homes in private rented sector in Torbay (26%) compared to 

England (19%) Page 21



 

11 

 Three quarters (75%) of Torbay’s housing stock’s energy performance is below band C, for 

England it’s just over half (54%) 

 

Housing has a key role to play in health and wellbeing. The poor condition of a property can 

negatively affect the physical and mental health of our residents. Similarly, some people’s physical 

health needs, particularly for older residents, can restrict their ability to live an independent life 

without some adaptations to the home. 

The expansion of the private rented sector has focused attention on the need to improve 

conditions in this tenure. The English Housing Survey (EHS) estimates that in 2019, 23% of these 

homes did not meet the Decent Home Standard. This compares with 18% of owner-occupied and 

12% of social-rented homes.  

The housing conditions in the private rented sector are worse than for any other, so making sure 

that the quality and standard of the private rented sector is a priority for us. We also focus much of 

our work in this sector because tenants have little, or no control over getting remedial works 

carried out, so we use all the tools available to take action against poor standards. 

The main enforcement issues identified relate to poor heating, risk of fire, damp and mould and 

falls. The Housing Standards Team identified and remedied 578 housing hazards, resulting in a 

significant cost saving to the NHS and wider society. 

A key theme running through our plans is a commitment to become carbon neutral. The carbon 

emissions from our area will fall as our homes and businesses become more energy efficient. The 

widespread reliance on gas as an energy source will mean few households will be immune 

from rising bills.  However, homes with poor fuel efficiency will be hit hardest by energy price rises. 

Households who live in a property they own or rent from a registered provider have the least 

likelihood of being fuel poor at 8% and 19% respectively. However, households living in privately 

rented accommodation are most likely to be fuel poor (25%). 

The scale of the issues facing the private rented sector are such that the answer does not lie with 

regulation alone. We must create the right environment to encourage self-compliance by working 

alongside landlords, property agents and landlord associations. 

To improve housing quality, we will: 

 Tackle disrepair and poor housing conditions by proactively targeting non-compliant 

landlords, taking appropriate action where standards are not being met 

 Support communities to improve the energy efficiency of their homes and meet our carbon 

neutral target, tackle fuel poverty, and reduce carbon emissions  

 Help households adapt existing homes, so they can remain independent for longer 

 Regularly consult with our customers to improve service design and delivery 

Improve housing support 

We will: 

Page 22



 

12 

1. Prevent homelessness 

2. Offer intervention 

3. Help households sustain accommodation 

 

This is important because: 

 Need on the Housing Register has increased by 50%, since 2018, with 1,572 applicants 

now in housing need 

 Typically, households who rent privately spend around 35% of their income on housing 

costs, compared to 18% for those with a mortgage, or 29% in social housing 

 There has been a 92% increase in use and stay of temporary accommodation for homeless 

households since 2019 [169, 37% families (2022)] 

 The most common reasons for homelessness is the loss of a private rented home (34%), 

family and friends no longer able to accommodate (19%) and domestic abuse (12%) 

 Last year the Housing Team received around 13,000 requests. Calls about being ‘homeless 

tonight’ increased by 12% 

 Around 24 people a month sleep rough in Torbay 

 

Homelessness has a serious and harmful effect on those who experience it. Our approach is to 

act at the earliest opportunity, before individuals, or families lose their home. We are developing a 

separate homelessness and rough sleeping strategy that will be published during the life of this 

strategy.  

Our primary focus is upon helping households to remain in their own home, provided that it is safe 

and suitable for them to do so. There are a number of in-house services available to help 

households remain in their homes, including: money advice, mediation and partnership work to 

tackle harassment and domestic abuse. 

It is not always appropriate for people to remain in their existing home and sometimes it is not 

possible to prevent homelessness. Over recent years we have seen a steady rise in demand for 

temporary accommodation, with many households placed in increasingly costly and sometimes 

unsuitable accommodation. This is having a significant impact on Council budgets. 

Due to the low provision of social homes and new build affordable homes Torbay is reliant upon 

the private rented sector to meet its homelessness duties. However, recent rental increases have 

pushed this type of accommodation beyond the reach of low-income households, particularly for 

families. Additionally, some landlords are converting to the holiday market, both permanently, and 

across the summer months. 

Three quarters of homeless households are re-housed in the private rented sector, more than 

twice the national average. However, as tenancies in this sector are less secure than other tenure 

and can create a repeating cycle of homelessness. 

Page 23



 

13 

The theme throughout this strategy is to make sure that the entire system is working to prevent all 

forms of homelessness, but also to work across the Council, and with partners to deliver more 

affordable homes, and work with the private rented sector to promote longer, more secure 

tenancies. 

To improve housing support, we will: 

 Continue to improve the Housing Options Service, to make sure that we give residents high 

quality, accessible advice when they need it 

 Work with members, partners, and clients to develop a homelessness and rough sleeping 

strategy that is fit for purpose and meets statutory and legislative requirements 

 Improve engagement with private and social landlords, letting agencies and tenants to 

promote compliance and the importance of those threatened with homelessness seeking 

help at an early stage 

 Develop a domestic abuse and sexual violence strategy with an emphasis on moving 

victims to safe and secure accommodation 

 Work with partners to create sustainable tenancies through local employment, training, and 

education 

 

Measuring success 

We will measure our success through the following indicators 

Improving housing supply 

 Total additional homes provided 

 Number of affordable homes delivered 

 Number of households housed through the Housing Register 

Improving housing quality 

 Number of home hazards remedied 

 Number of homes fitted with adaptations to help people remain independent 

 Number of homes receiving energy efficiency measures 

Improving housing support 

 Average number of single households, including couples, in temporary accommodation on 

any one night per quarter 

 Average number of families, including pregnant, in temporary accommodation on any one 

night per quarter 

 Number of new homelessness cases per quarter 

 The % of homelessness cases that were taken at the prevention stage 

 Number of families in bed and breakfast for longer than 6 weeks 

Page 24



 

14 

 Number of families where Children’s Services have a duty to accommodate in temporary 

accommodation 

 Number of children where Children’s Services have a duty to accommodate in temporary 

accommodation 

 Number of rough sleepers per year 

 

 

Page 25



 

15 

 

This document can be made available in other languages and formats. 

For more information, please contact housing@torbay.gov.uk  

Page 26

mailto:housing@torbay.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Cabinets Response to Torbay's Housing Crisis Review Panel Recommendations Monitoring
	4 Revised Draft Housing Strategy

